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FIGURE 1| WALTERS ART GALLERY
Bronze helmet with gold mask and diadem



HELMET AND MASK
AND A NORTH GREEK BURIAL*

By DOROTHY KENT HILL
The Walters Art Gallery

During 1964 the Walters Art Gallery pur-
chased a bronze helmet and five pieces of thin gold,
three of which have been used to construct a mask
and fasten it within the helmet, thus creating the
rather formidable and life-like representation
which can be seen in figure 1. It appears almost
certain that the helmet and mask and diadem and
the minor gold fragments belong together and con-
stitute a typical find of the north Greek area. In
that vast part of the Balkan peninsula, still inade-
quately explored archaeologically, helmet-and-
mask burials occurred during Classical Greek
times, and the most striking examples yet dis-

* Paper presented at the Sixty-sixth General Meeting of
the Archaeological Institute of America, Seattle, Wash-
ington, December 29, 1964. See American Journal of
Archaeology, LXIX (1965), p. 169.

1 For primary reports on Trebenischte see B. D. Filow
and K. Schkorpil, Die archaische Nekropole von Tre-
benischte am Ochrida-See, Berlin and Leipzig, 1927; N.
Vulic, Jahreshefte der Osterreichischen Archiologische
Institutes, XXVII (1932), pp. 1-42; C. Praschniker, ibid.,
pp. 106-114; N. Vulic, ibid, XXVIII (1933), pp 164-186;
N. Vulic, Archdologischer Anzeiger (Jahrbuch des
Deutschen Archidologischen Instituts), XLVIII (1933),
cols. 459-482.

2 B. Schréder, “Thrakische Helm,” in Jahrbuch des K.
Deutschen Archdolog. Inst., XXVII (1912), pp. 317-344;
E. Kunze, V1. Bericht iiber die Ausgrabungen in Olympia
(Deutsches Archédologisches Institut) (1958), pp. 125-
151. An example, source unknown, no. 54.796 in the
Walteﬁrs Art Gallery, Gazette des Beaux-Arts (1952), p.
311, fig. 2.

3 Walters Art Gallery, no. 57.1944, A and B. L. of
mask, 6% in. (.17); of nose-piece, 415 in. (.114). The
bronze helmet is numbered 54.2456.

covered are at Trebenischte in Jugoslavia, just
over the border from Greece of our day.!

Our helmet is of a common type called
“Illyrian” or “Thracian” and very large, of thick
fabric, and extraordinarily well preserved with an
attractive bright green patina (fig. 2).2 This type,
which is of very ancient origin, but was popular
for only one brief period at the end of the sixth
century B.C. and the beginning of the fifth, has a
roughly rectangular face-opening between long,
immovable cheek-pieces, pierced near their tips as
if they were to be connected by a cord below the
warrior’s chin. All edges are decorated with a bead
border. Along top and back of the head the metal
was pressed outward to form a sort of frame into
which to fit a perishable crest which was then tied
to a metal loop at the back of the neck and to a
knob above the forehead; this provision for the
attachment of the crest is routine on “Illyrian”
helmets, although the “Corinthian” type rarely
gives any evidence of having had a crest. Judging
from the helmet itself, one would suppose it to
have been made for actual battle and worn by a
Greek soldier at some time between the fall of the
Athenian tyrants and the Persian Wars. But a very
different purpose was to be served by the gold
mask, of which the two parts are shown in figure
3.2 By adding the mask, one turned the helmet
into a grotesque effigy of the deceased, creating a
substitute sepulchral image of the warrior. Today
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one must reconstruct the mask and place it within
the helmet. Of the two parts of the mask, the main
piece (fig. 3, right) is of firm though thin sheet
gold. It was shaped in a matrix to show brows,
eyes and a mouth with a decided archaic “smile.”
Clearly, the gold was first hammered to make a
sheet, then pressed into the matrix. This fact is
proved by creasing and pleating in key areas,
notably above the mouth, for such overlay would
not have occurred if the mask had been hammered
into the matrix from a rough mass, with all the
hammering directed against the matrix. There has
been no tooling subsequent to the hammering; the
eyes are vague and indistinct under the sharper
brows; impossible to say whether they are open or
shut. A double cutting, like a T inverted, is where
the nose should be, and the metal is bent to the
front in two triangular wings. Five pairs of holes,
one at the top, one at each side, and two in the lip
just below the cutting indicate that the nose was
attached to the two wings and to the lip by five
metal stitches. Of each pair, one hole was made
from the back, the other from the front, as the
needle passes when one sews. The nose-piece
(left in fig. 3) is triangular with its corners slightly
rounded and came to us partly folded. It is of foil,
thinner than the main part of the mask. It has
five pairs of holes for stitches. By straightening
it slightly and pleating the lower edge, all the while
keeping the original vertical fold, we reconstructed
a nose with five pairs of holes corresponding ex-
actly to the holes in the mask. For our mounting
the nose was not stitched in place, but two nails
driven through the upper pair of holes into the
wood model secure it in place. A hole at one side
of the mask and a tear at the other probably result
from original tying of the mask by a string. Finally,
of the gold pieces which came with the helmet,*
one is a gold strip, almost twelve inches long, orna-
mented with a double guilloche (fig. 4, top); it is
the correct length to reach from ear to ear of the
model and accordingly we used it to help hold the
mask in place. That the band may be partly visible,
the helmet is placed a trifle high; perhaps it should
be worn closer to his eyebrows, concealing the
band altogether.

There are two other pieces of gold, supposedly
from the same grave. At the left in figure 4, below,
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is a carelessly made ring of sheet gold, convex in its
outer surface and not completely closed. Obvi-
ously it was a finger ring for grave use only. The
other piece (right, below, in figure 4) is a plaque of
rhomboid shape with light, indistinct relief orna-
ment; at the center is a rosette, leaves filling the
sides, all within a border consisting of a running
spiral between lines. At the ends are holes, again
suggesting an attachment string. Such plaques
have usually been considered diadems. In this
case there would be two diadems, a thought sur-
prising at first, though it would not be impossible
to tie one in place over another within the helmet.

Assuming for the moment that the helmet and
the five pieces of gold leaf are from a single grave,
as they were represented to be, and that our re-
construction of the mask within the helmet is sub-
stantially correct, we next look for comparable
burials with similar grave-goods. The obvious
parallel is the burial field at Trebenischte, a site
on the Sea of Ochrid in Jugoslavia, just over the
boundary from modern Greece. Here seven
amazingly rich graves were discovered during the
Bulgarian occupation near the end of the First
World War. Only two were excavated under sci-
entific supervision. The contents were confiscated
by the retreating Bulgarians and installed in the
museum in Sofia, to be published in 1927 by
Filow and Schkorpil in a volume which aroused a
great interest that was directed chiefly at the ar-
chaic bronze vessels—by far the most beautiful
such trove up to that time—and to some extent at
the jewelry. A debate which still continues dealt
with the bronzes; are they, or are they not, Greek
and Corinthian? The other objects have received
less attention, though they are no less striking: thin
gold sandals and gloves, innumerable small gold
decorations, weapons, a little pottery and glass,
and, most important for us, from two of the graves

4 Strip, Walters Art Gallery, no. 57.1945; L. 113 in.
(.30). Ring, Walters Art Gallery, no. 57.1946; dia., 1
3/16 in. (.03). Diamond plaque, Walters Art Gallery,
no. 57.1947; L. 6%z in. (.165).

5B. Segall, Katalog der Goldschmiede-Arbeiten,
Museum Benaki, Athens, 1938, p. 6, nos. 11, 12, pp. 20
f. Cf. P. Amandry, Collection Héléne Stathatos, 1, Stras-
bourg, 1953, pp. 36 ff., nos. 46 ff., pl. XI (from
Macedonia, but not with the helmet group, below, note
13); also a rhomboid plaque with the helmet group
formerly at Ars Antiqua, see below, note 14.



FIGURE 2 WALTERS ART GALLERY
Bronze helmet
Greek, sixth century B.C.
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a combination of bronze helmet and gold mask.
Excavations were resumed much later and the
second lot of finds is in the Jugoslavia National
Museum in Belgrade. One grave with mask and
helmet was discovered in 1930 and two years
later, in 1932, there were four more, yielding a
solitary gold mask. 1933 saw the final excavations
at Trebenischte and the discovery of six more
graves at a distance from the original group and
generally less rich. There was then some research
on the construction of the graves and some explor-
ation of the adjacent ancient city.

It is thus from no simple excavation report that
one tries to understand and appraise the Treben-
ischte burials and their contents. Graves 1 and 5
in the first group, discovered intact but not exca-
vated by an archaeologist, had each a helmet and
a mask toward one end, the sandals, gloves, jewelry
and weapons, if any, at the appropriate points
relative to a human body, and the bronze vessels
assembled at the foot. The publishers, Filow and
Schkorpil, drew complete skeletons in position,
but represented the skeletons by dotted lines since
few bones remained. In the later excavations the
situation was different; either these graves were
more disturbed or the excavators more skillful and,
having leisure, more observant. Grave 8,¢ located
close to Graves 1 and 2 but not discovered until
1930, was arranged with mask and helmet at one
end, gloves, sandals, belt and sword at suitable
distances, bronze vessels piled at the opposite end
from the mask and helmet but—bones were non-
existent. The four graves discovered the following
year afforded even more surprises.” Grave 9 con-
tained a mask but no helmet; the mask was at the
far end of the grave from the pile of bronze
vessels. There were no weapons—and no bones!
Grave 10 which, like 9, seemed to be intact, had
no mask, no helmet, no weapons offensive or
defensive. There were bones, not forming a skele-
ton but collected in a large bronze vessel. (Graves
11 and 12 were not intact and their contents are
of no great interest for us, and the same holds true
of everything excavated in 1933).

Vuli¢ had the bones from Grave 11 studied by
an anatomist who identified them as belonging to
a young woman. He concluded that both graves
belonged to women, and that the mask in 9, closely
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resembling that from Grave 1 but lacking some
supposed indications of a beard, was a woman’s
face. Further, he suggested, though only in the
fine print of his note 4, that the Trebenischte
graves were what is known as “secondary burials,”
that is, the bodies were cremated and the partially
consumed bones arranged in a full-length grave
like the members of a complete skeleton.®

It is this theory—and it is only a theory—that
connects our supposed grave-find with the Tre-
benischte graves even more closely than does the
similarity of contents. All five gold pieces have a
deep red discoloration, unevenly distributed; it is
thickest on the two mask parts, least noticeable
on the rhomboid plaque. Such discoloration is not
unknown in secondary burials. Though there are
other ways of making such patination occur, one
cause is heat. In connection with the “purple”
gold, intentionally and deliberately so colored,
from the tomb of Tutankhamun, the late Robert
Wood suggested that it might have been done by
heating gold which contained some iron impuri-
ties.® What was a delicate and perhaps secret pro-
cess for Egyptian craftsmen could have been re-
peated accidentally at a burial ceremony in which
the body of the deceased was burned on a pyre,
fully robed and armed, wearing his battle helmet
and a mask which attempted to reproduce his fea-
tures, this ceremony being followed by another
when the scattered fragments of bone and the fire-
proof parts of the equipment were collected and
arranged decorously in a large grave. The color
of our gold, then, while it proves nothing, is con-
firmatory evidence for establishing our group as a

6 Jahreshefte der Oster. Archiolog. Inst., XXVII
(1932), pp. 1 ff.

7 Ibid., XXVIII (1933), pp. 164 ff.

8 Ibid., p. 166, note 4.

9 Journal of Egyptian Archaeology, XX (1934), p. 174;
see also A. Lucas, Ancient Egyptian Materials and In-
dustries, 2nd edit., London, 1934, p. 174.

10 Filow and Schkorpil, Arch. Nek. Trebenischte, pl. 1,

no. 1.
11 Jahreshefte der Oster. Archiolog. Inst, XXVII
(1932), p. 1, fig. 1. There is a curious stitch on the left
eye near the center of the face. It attaches nothing. Was
there a larger nose attached by stitches over the neces-
sarily small one made in the over-all matrix?

12'7pid, XXVIII (1933), p. 164, fig. 72. I assume that
the stitches are original in all cases. Conceivably the
actual stitches have been replaced in the original holes.
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unified discovery from a type of burial not un-
precedented.

Other points of similarity reveal themselves as
one studies our objects alongside of the Treben-
ischte burials. Our helmet is identical with some
from those graves. Our mask is not identical, but
has some details in common. Most important is
the use of gold stitches to attach the nose to the
mask. The mask from Grave 1° has a nose made
separately, but not as a sheet to be folded; it was
carefully shaped in its own matrix and attached
to the main part of the mask with stitches, each a
strip of gold leaf. The stitches pass over the edge

FIGURE 3

of the nose, and in this respect the technique differs
from the Walters mask. The mask from Grave 2
appears not to have stitches—one wonders how
the nose was fastened in place. The mask from
Grave 5 was made separately, but its means of at-
tachment are not apparent in the illustration, while
the mask from Grave 8 was in one piece, nose and
all.’* From Grave 9 came the mask with the
separately shaped nose, attached exactly as on
the mask from Grave 1.!2 Technically, then, the
Trebenischte masks show points of resemblance to
the Walters mask. Stylistically speaking, one can-
not make the same claim, and, more specifically,

WALTERS ART GALLERY

Two parts of gold mask
Probably Greek, sixth century B.C.

13
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FIGURE 4

WALTERS ART GALLERY

Two gold diadems and finger ring

no Trebenischte mask has the archaic smile. As
for ornamental detail, all from Trebenischte have
border patterns, while ours has not. However, re-
member that in three cases the border is a guil-
loche, the similarity of which to the pattern of our
long diadem has already been mentioned. By
placing the diadem low on the forehead we have
achieved in our reconstruction something of the
same effect as that created by the Trebenischte
masks.

Elsewhere there are masks and grave-groups,
mostly of unknown source, that can be of assis-
tance in localizing ours. In the Stathatos Collec-
tion in Athens, now displayed in the National Mu-
seum, is a mask and an Illyrian helmet mounted

13 P, Amandry, Collection Héléne Stathatos, 1, Stras-
bourg, 1953, pp. 110 f., pls. XIX, XX. Amandry has
some doubts as to whether the mask and helmet belong
together.

14 Antike Kunstwerke (Ars Antiqua AG, Luzern, Dec.
7, 1962), pp. 28 f., no. 119, pl. XXXIX.

15 A. Evans, Shaft Graves and Bee-Hive Tombs of
Mpycenae, London, 1929, p. 9, fig. 4. Ashmolean Museum
no. 1929.23.
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together and reputed to come from northern
Greece.!® The mask consists of two pieces of gold
foil; the larger, to cover the face, has no worked
features, merely a cut-out to which the nose, a
sheet cut at the corners, was to be applied by pres-
sure after folding. There is no indication of eyes
or mouth. Another group was recently sold at
auction.!* Another Illyrian helmet was fitted with
a mask, a rectangular sheet of thin foil with the
same type of nose cutting; unfortunately the nose-
piece was missing, or was lost before the auction,
although other grave-goods are present: a rhom-
boid diadem, gold-leaf triangles for the decoration
of some object (the helmet?) and handsome
bronze greaves. It seems highly probable that
these three groups, all suddenly appearing within
the last decade, have a common origin.

There are other masks, disassociated in all
cases from their original companions in the grave,
that have a bearing on our problem. There is a
mask of thin foil belonging to the Ashmolean
Museum which was published by Arthur Evans
as Mycenaean.'® It is of thin foil, rectangular,
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shaped in a matrix to show a straight mouth, a
small nose, eyes that seem to be shut and resemble
those of some of the Trebenischte masks, and hair
radiating back from the forehead. Evans believed
it to be Mycenaean, quite naturally, since few
Greek masks were then known. Actually, in the
light of subsequent discoveries, I would identify
it as Greek. While not exactly like those men-
tioned above, its style is much more Greek than
Mycenaean and it lacks the indication of ears,
which are invariable on the masks from Mycenae.
Pollak says it probably is female, but why? For
another gold mask, formerly in the Nelidow Col-
lection, Sidon is given as source, and it prob-
ably belongs with a gold diadem, also Nelidow.'¢
Finally, as late as the time of Greek settlers on the
Black Sea, that is, the fourth century B.C., there
was at least one example of a gold death-mask.'?

Immediately upon the publication of the first
Trebenischte finds, Stanley Casson (who had
devoted his life to the north Greek area, albeit
largely to prehistoric studies), acting as reviewer,
suggested that Bronze-Age burial customs per-
sisted in Macedonia and in the north Balkans
generally and that Mycenae and the finds at
Trebenischte might fairly be described as two

phases of one culture.!® Everything that has
happened since tends to support his statement.
There are still great gaps in our knowledge; we still
do not know who was buried at Trebenischte and
related sites, whether of Greek or other race. The
metalware seems to be Greek, the helmets are ex-
clusively Greek and some of the jewelry is Greek.
Other jewelry and the masks may be of local,
barbarian manufacture. But there can be little
doubt that the helmet and five pieces of gold now
at the Walters Art Gallery are from a single grave
somewhere in northern Greece, contemporary
with and typologically similar to the burials at
Trebenischte and heirs of the great tradition of
the grave-circle of Mycenae.

18 L. Pollak, Klassisch-Antike Goldschmiedearbeiten
im Besitze Sr. Excellenz A. J. von Nelidow, Leipzig, 1903,
p. 19, no. 40, pl. VII; cf. no. 11.

17 N. Kondakof, J. Tolstoi, S. Reinach, Antiquités de la
Russie Méridionale (1891), I, p. 70, fig. 94; S. Reinach,
Antiquités du Bosphore Cimmérien, Paris, 1892, pl. 1.

18 S, Casson, Journal of Hellenic Studies, XLVIII
(1928), pp. 267 ff. Casson mentions various burial masks
in Macedonia from the tenth to the fourth centuries B.C.,
and seeming to be a sort of bridge between the Mycen-
aean and the Greek. Other such masks have since been
discovered: Dieter Ohly, Griechische Goldbleche des 8.
Jahrhunderts v. Chr., Berlin, 1953, pp. 69 ff., figs. 37-38;
Walther Reichel, Griechisches Goldrelief, Berlin, 1942, p.
50, fig. 4 and p. 58, no. 55, af.

ADDENDUM

Since writing the above I have been informed by
Dr. Franz Josef Hassel that other objects from the
same grave, which was located in Chalcidice, are
in the ROmisch-Germanisches Zentralmuseum,
Mainz, Germany, and are to be published shortly.
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A CENTRAL GAULISH BOWL BY PUGNUS
IN THE WALTERS ART GALLERY

By HOWARD COMFORT
Haverford College

In 1957 Professor S. J. de Laet of Ghent pub-
lished an article, “Bol en terre sigillée trouvé a
Lyon et conservé a la Walters Art Gallery de
Baltimore,” in Hommages a Waldemar Deonna
[Collection Latomus XXVIII].! However, since
his publication antedated by a year the epoch-
making volume Central Gaulish Potters by Grace
Simpson, based on the studies and drawings of the
late J. A. Stanfield, de Laet’s amply illustrated
and well-documented treatment lacked one inter-
esting final step, namely an attribution of this
bowl to the potter who made it. It is now possible
to propose a fairly safe identification of the manu-
facturer, in which Dr. Simpson concurs; I express
my appreciation of her always unfailing collabora-
tion in the preparation of this note.

Professor de Laet’s illustrations and description,
and the illustrations herewith (figs. 1-5), dispense
with the need for a repetition of detailed analysis of
the reliefs. The bowl is of the familiar hemispheri-
cal form, Dragendorff 37; it is unsigned, and

11t had already been illustrated and noted briefly as a
new acquisition in the Bulletin of the Walters Art Gallery,
1V, no. 4 (January, 1952); Inv. no. 48.2016.

2 Joseph Déchelette, Les vases céramiques ornés de la
Gaule romaine (Paris, 1904). '

3Felix Oswald, Index of Figure-Types on Terra
Sigillata, Liverpool, 1936-37.

4 Joseph A. Stanfield and Grace Simpson, Central
Gaulish Potters, Oxford University Press, 1958, pl. 155,
no. 22.
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it is clearly of Central Gaulish manufacture in the
Antonine period. The problem is merely to thumb
through Stanfield-Simpson and select the most
likely candidate for its authorship.

As de Laet points out, such major figure-types
as the horned head of Pan in the demi-medallion
are of little help. The great repertoria of Déche-
lette? and of Oswald® show that this and other
conspicuous dies were widely used among the
potters concerned. What is important, Dr. Simpson
reminds us (p. xxxvi), are the minor “decorative
details . . . which . . . were the exclusive property
of single potters and therefore as characteristic of
them as their signatures.” The detail we select as
criterion for the Walters Art Gallery bowl is the
indescribable oval-shaped “doo-dad” (what other
word will do?) used in the upper corners adjacent
to the medallion with the bear devouring a fallen
man (figs. 1, 2). Was this used by any identified
potter, and was he the only one to use it? It ap-
pears in the same position on a fragment attrib-
uted to Pugnus,* and Dr. Simpson remarks that
“several motifs are too blurred to be distinguished
in detail [clearly including the “doo-dad”], but
they, seem to be characteristic of Pugnus and
occur on No. . . . 22,” which same fragment in-
cludes not merely a double-ringed medallion, but
also the same Pan-head, the Perseus with Medusa,
the stag running to the left (fig. 3), and the dol-
phin which, on our bowl, is placed beneath the
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any potter other than Pugnus; all the indications,
positive and negative, thus point to him as the
object of our search, and we are further enabled to
add the Pan-with-syrinx and the seated Diana to
his repertory (fig. 5). Indeed, one could wish
that, instead of conforming so nearly to what is
already known of Pugnus, the Walters bowl could
eI b have added even more to our knowledge of this
L df: AR comparatively unexplored potter.

L e | The Walters bowl is the only complete speci-
men of Pugnus’ work. It shows that his decora-
tive technique could be, as in this case, the division
of the decorated area into four quarters, each
divided into four (unequal) panels, with the
same decorative motives arranged in the same
way in each panel—surely not a very imaginative
discharge of an artistic opportunity. Dr. Simpson
likewise notes his “untidy and careless way of set-

FIGURE 2 WALTERS ART GALLERY
Detail of Bowl

Pan-with-syrinx (fig. 5). Further, the ovolos seem
to be the same—doubtless the controlling reason
for Dr. Simpson’s attribution of her sherd to
Pugnus in the first place.> The bear also appears
on a sherd attributed to him,® as does the
Amazon with pelta,” and the “doo-dad” likewise
reappears in the same corner position as on our
sherd and on the one already cited.® The absence
of Pan-with-syrinx and the Diana seated on a
rock from the available documentation on Pugnus
is not disturbing; Albucius used the former? and
Cinnamus and others, all contemporaries of
Pugnus, used the latter.l® Finally, so far as our
evidence goes, the “doo-dad” is not attested for

51bid., p. 259, fig. 45, no. 4.
6 Ibid., pl. 155, no. 21.

7 1bid., pl. 154, no. 15. FIGURE 3 WALTERS ART GALLERY
8 Ibid., pl. 154, no. 14; cf. note 4 above. .

9 Ibid., pl. 122, no. 29 and pl. 170. Detail of Bowl

10 Oswald, op. cit., pl. VII, no. 111. (Text of old hand-written label is misleading)

18
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ting out his designs.” We are not dealing with a
major figure of Roman art.

The date of Pugnus was approximately A.D.
150-190 (the era of Antonius Pius to Commodus),
but like Stanfield-Simpson plate 155, 22 and p.
260, which has provided most of the parallels, the
bowl before us specifically belongs to his later
period.

A reflection is prompted by the gruesome scene
in the medallion on the Walters bowl (figs. 1, 2).
Martial’s Liber Spectaculorum shows how com-
mon it was in his day, A.D. 80 (Titus and Domi-
tian), to turn bulls, bears and other animals loose
upon more or less defenseless humans in the arena,
even to the extent of reenacting the myth of Or-

FIGURE 4

pheus charming the world of nature with his
music, climaxed by the real dismemberment of
Orpheus by a real bear. The prostrate form on our
bowl is clearly not that of Orpheus, but it un-
doubtedly represents a victim all too familiar from
the amphitheater. In general the works of Pugnus
show a strong influence from the venationes'' and
the gladiatorial combats.!> And there are many
other figure-types on South and Central Gaulish
terra sigillata which suggest the same source—
men and women tied to stakes and attacked by

11 Qur deer, for instance, and Stanfield-Simpson, op.
cit., pl. 155, no. 27.
12 Jbid., pl. 154, no. 19.

WALTERS ART GALLERY

Bowl of Terra Sigillata by Pugnus
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FIGURE § WALTERS ART GALLERY

Detail of Bowl

animals,!® and bulls tossing helpless victims!* or
attacking armed toreadors.'” All these and—if one
were to search the evidence from this point of
view—many other scenes and individual stamps
were not echoes of more classical Greco-Roman
original works of art or products of the free imag-
ination of the minor artists who operated the
potteries of La Graufesenque and Lezoux and
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East Gaul, but were the reproduction, within their
limited artistic capacities, of what the potters and
their customers had personally witnessed and en-
joyed periodically in the amphitheater. It is not
without significance in the development of the
imperial Roman social pattern that the brutality
of the arena was unknown to the repertoire of
the Augustan Arretines; it was the Graufesenque
potters of the mid-first century after Christ who
introduced death in the afternoon onto moulded
ceramics, and the potters of the period of Pugnus
who emphasized (more, I think, than has gen-
erally been noted) the butchery of the spectacles
—not merely as practiced in the urbs domina,
but in all the provincial arenas which we visit in
various parts of the Empire.

Postscript: Pugnus has also been briefly noted
by A. P. Detsicas in Antiquaries Journal, XLIII
(1963), p. 15, no. 7 [=Revue archéologique du
Centre, 111 (1964), p. 61, no. 8]. However, the
fragment from Les Martres de Veyre, illustrated
by J. R. Terrisse in Revue archéologique du Cen-
tre, 11 (1963), p. 289, fig. 23, and originally
assigned to Pugnus, has now been rightly re-
assigned to his contemporary Casurius, and can-
not be used to locate the shop of Pugnus at Les
Martres.

13 Oswald, op. cit., pls. LIV, LV.

14 Frédéric Hermet, La Graufesenque, Paris, 1934, pl.
23, no. 259.

15 Jbid., pl. 23, nos. 245 ff.
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MASTER OF THE ORLEANS TRIPTYCH
Triptvch of the Annunciation (no. 44.316)

TECHNICAL OBSERVATIONS ON

EARLY PAINTED ENAMELS OF LIMOGES:

THEIR MATERIALS, STRUCTURE, TECHNIQUE
AND DETERIORATION

By PETER E. MICHAELS
The Walters Art Gallery

During the course of examining and treating the ~ sion will be devoted to enamel plaques produced
rich collection of French renaissance painted  in and around Limoges, between about 1470 and
enamels in the Walters Art Gallery, a number of 1530,! including the work and workshop produc-
technical observations were made. Examples from tion of the Pseudo-Monvaerni (1470-1500; figs.
the workshops of every recognized master were 6, 13), the Orléans Master (1490-1510; figs. 1, 5,
studied from a technical point of view, and a repre- 7-8, 14-17), the Master of the Triptych of Louis
sentative selection of illustrations will be found XII (1500-1520; figs. 9-11); Nardon Pénicaud
accompanying this article. The following discus- (1490-1525; figs. 2-4); Jean Pénicaud 1 (1525-
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1535); the Master of the High Foreheads (1500-
1525) and the Master of the Mauve Mantles
(1500-1525). Almost nothing is known of these
masters, not even their precise or probable dates.
Those indicated above are rough estimates based
upon existing scholarship, although recent studies
indicate a much earlier date may possibly apply
to the founding of this new technique.?

Around 1530, precisely known artists, their
dates and many signed pieces become abundant;
and the technique, having become standardized in
the work of Nardon and Jean Pénicaud I, ad-
vanced toward new procedures which came to
dominate the later sixteenth and seventeenth cen-
turies. I do not include here a discussion of the
Aeneid Master or of Jean Pénicaud II, whose
output marks the introduction of the changes in
technique around 1530.

* * *

I—MATERIALS

The basic materials of glass or enamel are
silica, a fluxing agent and a coloring matter. Since
the twelfth century, the manufacture of opaque
colored enamels in Limoges had taught artisans
how to make only a few colors, but the extensive
production of stained-glass during the later Middle
Ages by thinly coating sheets of clear transparent
glass with brilliantly colored layers brought to the
renaissance enameller a new range of translucent
colored glass materials.

Requisite for all enamel colors was a trans-
parent glass which would melt and fuse at a
relatively low temperature, so as to avoid melting
the metallic support (usually copper or bronze).
Since the addition of any metallic oxide or car-
bonate to melted glass may produce a variety of
colors, depending on its concentration and the
composition of the basic clear glass (called the
flux), it is probable that fifteenth-century artisans
made use of several kinds of glass, all melting at
about the same temperature, around 1300°F.
The flux was composed primarily of silica (from
white sand) to which various other compounds
were added to make it fuse at a low temperature,
these being soda ash and potash (Na,CO; and
K,CO; both from wood ashes), lime (CaO from
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limestone), lead oxide, borax and others. The pro-
portion of each compound may have varied great-
ly, but as more fluxing material (soda ash, borax,
lead, etc.) was added, the glass became softer
and more susceptible to weathering and deteriora-
tion. Of some importance was the presence or
absence of lead in the glass, since this would
change the color resulting from the addition of
certain metallic oxides, and the resistance of the
enamel to deterioration. With lead as a fluxing
agent, the glass was generally harder and more
resistant.?

Actually, the range of colors used in painted
enamels from around 1470 to 1530 was limited.
The transparent flux was either a soft lead-
glass or a softer leadless-alkaline glass of about the
same low melting point. The coloring elements
(metallic oxides or carbonates) added to the
transparent clear flux (while in a molten state)
to make the principal colors were as follows:

1) Added to lead-glass:

transparent tan ................. iron

transparent green . . ............. copper
2) Added to leadless-alkaline glass:

mulberry red .............. manganese

transparent dark blue . .. .. ... .. copper in

moderate to large amounts

transparent turquoise blue copper

in small amounts

Added to either leadless-alkaline or lead-
glass:

opaque white

3)

tin oxide

1 The origin of painted enamels may lie in the Nether-
landish and French decoration of secular objects during
the first half of the fifteenth century. These grisaille
designs were applied in colors of white, grey, blue and
black with gold accents over the metallic base of gold and
silver alloys on cups, spoons, bowls and medallions. A
full discussion of this topic was published by Philippe
Verdier, “A Medallion of the Ara Coeli and the Nether-
landish Enamels of the Fifteenth Century,” Journal of the
Walters Art Gallery, XXIV (1961), pp. 9-37.

2 Wilfred Buckley, “A ‘Limoges’ Enamel Plaque of
1434,”8Burlington Magazine, LIX (Sept., 1931), pp.
117-118.

3 A larger proportion of silica may be used when lead
is present, so that a stronger glass results, even though the
melting point remains low. In leadless-alkaline glass of
low melting point, it is necessary to increase the propor-
tion of soda and potash (Na.COs; and K.CO;) at the
expense of the silica, thus lowering its resistance to de-
terioration, since some of the alkaline may be dissolved
in the presence of moisture.
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FIGURE 2

WALTERS ART GALLERY

NARDON PENICAUD
Detail of Crucifixion Triptych (no. 44.149)
Micro-photograph showing copper plate and white ground

opaque black cobalt plus iron plus
manganese
russetred .. ..... iron (natural red ochre)
Moderately large batches of these fluxes were
prepared in crucibles, allowed to cool, then ground
and powdered. Additional tints could be made
by mixing different powdered enamels, so long as
colors within one system were kept together. In
application, the powdered enamels were first
mixed with water and some sticky material (such
as gum arabic, gum tragacanth, or honey) to form
a thin paste which could be applied to the copper
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plate without subsequently falling off or blowing
away. Sometimes larger flat areas were sprinkled
into place dry.

* * * * *

II—STRUCTURE AND TECHNIQUE

A copper plate, sometimes slightly convex in
contour, was the usual support. Its thickness
varied from about 18 gauge to a thin 26 to 28
gauge. The copper surface was usually slightly
roughened to provide better adhesion for the first
opaque white layer of enamel. This opaque white
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“ground” layer (fig. 2) provided the light-reflec-
tive surface essential for the luminous brilliance of
the translucent colored enamels to be applied later.
(It also corresponded to the customary preparation
with white gesso for painting in oil or tempera on
a wood panel.)

A counter-enamel, composed of remnants and
contaminated colors from all the various enamels
mixed together, was applied to the reverse of the
plate and served the important function of counter-
balancing the differences in expansion and con-
traction on heating and cooling between the copper
plate and the enamel layers. The counter-enamel
was applied on the back roughly, and fused in a

furnace at about 1300°F, at the same time as the
opaque white “ground” layer on the obverse.
Over the fused opaque white ground were drawn
in heavy lines of black or russet-red the out-
lines of the design, inner contours and sometimes
hatched shadings. Usually ranging in width be-
tween 1/32 and 3/32 inch, these lines served as
the basic artistic structure of the finished work.
They organized all design elements, demarcated
areas of color, provided shadows and a basis for
the complex structure of flesh tones. (The use of
black or russet-red did not typify particular
masters or workshops.) These drawing-lines were
fused to the opaque white ground before further

FIGURE 3

WALTERS ART GALLERY

NARDON PENICAUD

Crucifixion Triptych (no. 44.149)
Enlarged detail of horse’s trappings
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work was attempted. Once applied and fired they
were unchangeable. At this point in the manu-
facture, the plaque would have appeared much
like a woodcut or pen-drawing.

The translucent colored areas were applied next,
completely covering the surface with a uniformly
level layer of enamel formed of adjacent patches
of colors. Since the heavy drawing-lines de-
marcated each area, the tendency for different
colors to merge slightly at borders was masked
(but it can be observed on most pieces under
magnification). Where flesh tones were later to

be placed, the white ground with its russet or black
lines was covered with a layer of transparent color,
either dark blue, mulberry-red, or occasionally
dark green. If the drawing-lines were painted in
russet-red color, the use of blue or green rendered
them black in appearance. Over the whole of a
plaque using russet-red lines, the resulting optical
effect of the lines varied from area to area, depend-
ing on the color of the translucent layer super-
imposed. A tan, brown or mulberry-red rendered
the russet lines more or less reddish in color, while
blues and greens gave them a dark brown or black

FIGURE 4

WALTERS ART GALLERY

NARDON PENICAUD

Crucifixion Triptych (no. 44.149)
Micro-photograph of jewel from Figure 3
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appearance. This subtlety was much exploited by
the Master of the Orléans Triptych and his fol-
lowers.

By applying the translucent colored layers con-
sistently over the entire surface, the artisan re-
tained a level and smooth layer of enamel without
unnecessarily complicating his procedures. This
complete mosaic of translucent colors was fired at
one time. No observations suggest that there were
separate firings for separate colors, since in every
case the edges fuse together evenly and smoothly,
without subsequent cracking.

Decorative elements such as flowers and
“jewels” were next applied, often with a tiny
round or square piece of silver foil.* Over and
around the foil, small beads of translucent enamels
of various colors and of opaque white were laid,
and the plaque fired again. The beads melted
down, covering the foils, but still remaining some-
what raised. Being fused separately, raised and
with an extra bit of metal, these “jewels” fre-
quently have been damaged during the centuries,
leaving round holes in the otherwise smooth sur-
face of colored enamel (figs. 3, 4).

Several layers composed the flesh tones and
opaque white garment areas. Here we find the
greatest complexity in treatment and the widest
differences among skilled masters. Two principal
methods were used:

The FIRST METHOD, using a single layer, found
in the works of the Pseudo-Monvaerni and of the
Orléans Master.

Over an apparently black layer, the whole
modelling of faces, hands, scrolls, books, head-
dresses and other white areas was rendered by

4 The use of round spots of silver foil under “jewel”
decorations seems to have been typical of the Master of
the Triptych of Louis XII, of Nardon Pénicaud, Jean
Pénicaud I, and of the original work of the Master of the
Orléans Triptych. But square spots of silver foil are
found beneath the “jewels” deriving from designs of the
Master of the Orléans Triptych but executed by his fol-
lowers in the second method of applying flesh tones
(compare figs. 1, 5 with figs. 7, 8, 17).

5 The technique of Pseudo-Monvaerni (ca. 1470-1500)
employed, as mentioned, a ground-layer of black. Each
colored area was first marked out with an opaque white
layer in which lines were scratched (enlevage) through
the powdery enamel before firing, to reveal the black
ground. This layer was then fired, producing an irregular
bumpy surface. Thin layers of color were then applied
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applying a single layer of opaque white in varying
thicknesses. The dark layer beneath made the
thin parts seem gray, while the thicker places
achieved pure white. Linear demarcations of the
nose, eyes, mouth, chin, fingers, and so on, were
produced by enlevage, i.e., by scraping away a line
or a series of dots through the powdery enamel
before it was fired (fig. 5, chin-line of the angel’s
head). Helpful to the artisan was the fact that
the powdered enamel when applied in a moderately
thick layer became reduced on firing to a much
thinner and more compact fused layer. This
greatly facilitated the subtle modelling and rendi-
tion of the delicate nuances of shadows.

Pseudo-Monvaerni (fig. 6), probably the earli-
est of the Limoges masters of painted enamel, em-
ployed a completely black ground-layer over the
whole plaque. His techniques were complex,
crude and probably experimental. The flesh tones
were rendered by a single layer of opaque white,
making extensive use of enlevage to indicate the
features of the face. These enlevage lines almost
always penetrate to reveal the full darkness of the
ground. Little attention was given to the model-
ling of the form by varying the thickness of the
white layer, but thin “washes” of red or grey were
later applied to compensate for the sallow flat-
ness of effect. The work of this master stood
apart from all others in technique and design. He
crowded the plaque with decorative details, many
of which were enhanced by the extensive use of
“washes” of many colors.?

In the work of the Master of the Orléans
Triptych (figs. 1, 5), the use of a single layer of
opaque white for the flesh tones is brought to an
extraordinary height of refinement. Underlying
the flesh tones is an apparently black zone, which

over the white patches and fired. The flesh tones were
applied in a single layer of opaque white over the black
ground (or sometimes over grey). The resulting surface
was not only uneven to the touch, but showed an irregular
color rendition, since the translucent colors tended to
form in little puddles where depressions occurred in the
underlying white layer. The decoration of the final sur-
face with gold and thin washes of several colors is much
more extensive in Pseudo-Monvaerni than in any other
workshop, although “jewels” seldom occurred. Thin
washes of red were crudely applied to the faces to
heighten the cheeks. Sometimes washes of very thin
blz:lck lgr grey also helped deepen shadows along the neck
and chin.
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MASTER OF THE ORLEANS TRIPTYCH

Detail of the Angel from Fig. 1
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FIGURE 6

THE PSEUDO-MONVAERNI

Christ before Pilate (no. 44.599)
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consisted actually of a solid russet-red area (or
very wide lines of russet-red delineating the several
features) painted on the usual white ground, over
which a transparent blue was placed producing the
optical effect of black. For the flesh tones them-
selves this black under-layer was utilized in the
rendition of grey shadows by applying over it
varying thicknesses of the opaque white. Enlevage
was employed either as a line or a series of dots
where stronger outlines were needed.

With both the Pseudo-Monvaerni and the
Orléans Master, the general effect of sallow grey-
ness resulted from this first method. To bring
about a more ruddy complexion, extremely thin
“washes” of red were applied as a last step, to be
very briefly fired. This was a risky procedure,
since the color would so easily be altered if sub-
jected to heat for any length of time. To produce
the opaque red “wash” (also used for the blood
of wounds), a special enamel was made with red
iron oxide,® then pulverized and mixed with vari-
ous amounts of low-fusing transparent flux. This
could be brushed very thinly onto the surface and
briefly fired so that the transparent flux would melt
just enough to adhere to the surface while retain-
ing the sharp edges of the brush strokes. Gold ac-
cents and black lettering were applied at this time,
all being mixed with transparent flux and fired at
one time, the final firing.

The extraordinary refinement in tonal nuances
of the work of the Orléans Master is the apex of
achievement in this method of working. It is note-
worthy that the two wings of the Triptych of the
Annunciation” provided the designs for five other
single plaques in the Walters Art Gallery (figs. 7,
8) which were executed by the second method, and
utilize square foils under the “jewels.” Precisely
what relationship these plaques have to the
Orléans Master is not known.®

6 A granular, soft, opaque red of lead-glass, melting at
a low temperature, had been used for champlevé enamels
at Limoges since the twelfth century. It may be pre-
sumed that this same opaque red, when finely pulverized
and mixed with some of the transparent flux, would have
been satisfactory for the thin superficial washes needed
in the fifteenth- and sixteenth-century painted enamels.
Since no other reds are to be found in the structure of
the later pieces, we may also infer that this older opaque
red could not be subjected to the repeated firings of the
new technique. A minute sample of opaque red from a
twelfth-century Limoges champlevé enameled cross was
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The SECOND METHOD using two layers, found
in the works of Nardon Pénicaud, Jean Pénicaud
I, the Master of the Triptych of Louis XII and
other anonymous masters

This was the more common procedure for ren-
dering flesh tones (fig. 9). Lacking a true red
which would withstand the heat of necessary
firings, a mixture of translucent mulberry-red and
opaque white, which resulted in a semi-opaque
lilac shade, was applied as a preliminary layer on
top of the already fused translucent colored sur-
faces. Sometimes these colored areas beneath the
flesh tones were blue, sometimes mulberry-red;
but in nearly all examples the whole linear design
has been thoroughly worked out at the level of
the drawing-lines in broad strokes. In a few
plaques a wash of black covered the whole area
over which opaque white drapery or flesh tones
would later be placed. These dark areas beneath
the semi-opaque lilac-colored layer served the
important function of providing tone for the
shadows and black lines to delineate the eyes,
nostrils and mouth. The layer of semi-opaque
lilac formed a relatively thin, even surface through
which lines and dots were scratched in enlevage in
the powdered enamel before fusing (fig. 10, head
of Virgin: detail; note the eye, nose, mouth).
Tonal gradations were produced by thicker or
thinner layers of enamel, allowing more of the
black layer below to show through. However, the
semi-opaque lilac mainly provided a general color
and tone for the modelling of highlights and form
in the final layer of opaque white.

After firing the lilac-colored layer, the la<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>